
COMMON PLEAS COURT 

CUYAHOGA COUNTY 

STATE OF OHIO 

e ,  
Diane M. Carrick, 
Executrix, et cetera, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. : Case No. 185330 

The Cleveland Clinic 
Foundation, et al., 

Defendants. 

DEPOSITION OF 

MAURICE C. MAST, M.D. 

A WITNESS herein, called by the 
plaintiff for cross-examination under the applicable 
Rules of Ohio Civil Court Procedure, taken before me, 
Beth A. Higgins, a Registered Professional Reporter 
and Notary Public in and for the State of Ohio, by 
agreement of counsel, at the offices of the witness, 497  
East Town Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215, on Thursday, 
October 3, 1991, commencing at approximately 2:lO a.m. 
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LPPEARANCES : 

BY: CHRISTOPHER M. MELLINO, Esquire 
Charles I. Kampinski Company, L.P.A. 
1530 Standard Building 
Cleveland, Ohio 44113 
(216) 781-4110, 

On behalf of the Plaintiff. 

BY: GEORGE F, GORE, Esquire 
Arter & Hadden 
1100 Huntington Building 
Cleveland, Ohio 44115 
(216) 696-1100, 

On behalf of Defendant The 
Cleveland Clinic Foundation. 

BY: LESLIE J. SPISAK, Esquire 
The 113 Building, 7th Floor 
Cleveland, Ohio 44114-1273 
(216) 687-1311, 

On behalf of Defendant 
Robert P. Riley, M.D. 
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Thursday Afternoon Session 
October 3, 1991 
2:lO a.m. 

- - -  

STIPULATIONS 

It is hereby stipulated by and between 

:ounsel for the respective parties herein that this 

ieposition of MAURICE C. MAST, M.D. may be taken at this 

;ime by the Notary; that said deposition is being taken 

>y agreement of counsel; that said deposition may be 

:educed to writing in stenotypy by the Notary, whose 

iotes may thereafter be transcribed out of the presence 

if the witness: that proof of the official character and 

iualifications of the Notary, the time and place of the 

zaking of said deposition, and the signature of the 

vitness are hereby waived. 

- - -  
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MAURICE C. MAST, M.D., 

Ieing by me first duly sworn, as hereinafter certifie 

ieposes and says as follows: 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

3Y MR. MELLINO: 

2. Would you state your full name, please? 

i .  Maurice C. Mast. 

3 .  And your address? 

1. Home or office? 

2. Both. 

i .  Okay. Home address is 2733 

:olumbus, Ohio 43221. 

And office --  

ickliffe Road, 

MR. SPISAK: Excuse me, Doc-or. You have a 

Zendency to talk very fast, in anticipation that that 

nay be -- 

THE WITNESS: All right. 

MR. SPISAK: -- a little too fast. 

4. Office address is 497 East Town Street, 

;olumbus, Ohio 43215. 

2. Okay. Have you ever been deposed before? 

4. No. 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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3 .  I ' m  go ing  t o  be a s k i n g  you a number of  

[ u e s t i o n s  today .  

L. Uh-huh. 

I .  If  a t  any t i m e  you d o n ' t  u n d e r s t a n d  one of 

iy q u e s t i o n s ,  p l e a s e  f e e l  f r e e  t o  ask m e  t o  r e p e a t  it o r  

rephrase  it, and I ' l l  be  happy t o  do so. And any 

p e s t i o n  t h a t  you answer,  you have t o  answer o u t  l o u  

;hat t h e  c o u r t  r e p o r t e r  can  t a k e  down your  answer.  

Ikay? 

i .  Okay. 

2. How o l d  are you? 

i .  

3 .  Okay. Could you t e l l  m e  what your  

S d u c a t i o n a l  t r a i n i n g  and background i s ?  

A .  Okay. C o l l e g e  undergrad ,  I went t o  Ohio 

Northern U n i v e r s i t y .  Graduated w i t h  a d u a l  d e g r e e  i n  

chemis t ry  and pharmacy, 1979. 

A f t e r  t h a t ,  I d i d  n o t  p r a c t i c e  as  a 

pha rmac i s t ,  b u t  I went d i r e c t l y  i n t o  med s c h o o l  and 

g radua ted  t h e r e  i n  1982 from Ohio S t a t e  U n i v e r s i t y .  

A f t e r  t h a t ,  I s t a y e d  on a t  t h e  u n i v e r s i t y  

a s  an i n s t r u c t o r  f o r  one y e a r  and w a s  promoted t o  

a s s i s t a n t  p r o f e s s o r  i n  1986  and s t a y e d  t h e r e  for t w o  

y e a r s  i n  t h a t  c a p a c i t y .  

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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At that point, I decided to go into the 

private practice of internal medicine; and after a 

search, ended up here at Central Ohio Medical Group, 

Okay. So you're no longer affiliated with 

the Ohio State University? 

No. 

Okay. And why is it that you left Ohio 

I was not satisfied with the academic 

medicine at that point, especially in internal medicine. 

It tended to be a specialty-based hospital and 

university, and a general internist didn't really have 

too much of a future there, so I decided to go into 

private practice. 

Was it your decision to leave Ohio State? 

Yes. 

Are you board certified? 

Yes. Internal medicine, 1985. 

Okay. Any others? 

No. 

Have you taken any other board 

. 

/ 

certification examinations? 

A. No. 

Q. And you have one publication listed on your 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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EV, --  

A .  Uh-huh. 

a .  -- and I can't even pronounce half the 

inJords in the title of that publication. What does that 

publication have too deal with? What's it deal with? 

4. That has to do with a drug interaction 

?oted in a case that we had seen at University Hospital 

that we published. 

2. What drug was it? 

9. The drug was Cimetidine, which is a drug 

€or ulcers, and Metamucil, which is a drug for thyroid 

?roblems. 

2. And what currently does your practice 

involve? What do you do on a day-to-day basis? 

I. My practice right now involves both 

inpatient and outpatient general internal medicine, 

idult medicine. All patients 18 years and older 

lasically, general medical care of them. And also 

inpatients and lots of geriatrics. I also am a 

nedical director of a nursing home. 

2. Okay. What nursing home? 

i .  That's Arbors at Hilliard. 

2. What percentage of your practice is 

jeriatrics? 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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A .  I would say approximately 30 percent. 

Q. I take it since you only have one 

publication listed, that that's all you've publishe 

A .  Right. 

Q -  Did you review any medical literature in 

preparation of giving opinions in this case? 

A. Not medical literature as such. Some 

textbook review. 

Q. What textbooks? 

A .  Cecil Textbook of Medicine, Harrison's 

Textbook of Internal Medicine, -- 

Q. Okay. 

A .  -- plus reviewed the PDR on Indocin 

basically. 

Q. Did you review the PDR on any other drugs? 

A .  No. 

Q. 

A .  

Q. 

What training have you had in nephrology? 

Okay. And I take it that you don't hold 

yourself out as a nephrologist -- - 
Q. -- or as having any special expertise in 

__2__ nephrology. 
I 

A. Right. 

\ -  

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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Q. Do you know a Dr. Riley? 

A .  No. 

Q. Do you know any of the physicians that are 

involved in this case? 

A .  Not at all. 

Q. Do you know how it was that you were asked 

to review this case? 

A .  A law firm contacted me. 

Q. Who specifically? 

THE WITNESS: A paralegal at your office? 

MR. SPISAK: (Nodded affirmatively.) 

a .  How many times previous to this have you 

expert witness in a medical been retained as an 

malpractice case? 

A. A s  for 

a .  No. Ji 

a deposition or otherwise? 

st retained to review material. 

4. I think about two times. 

a .  Two other times? 

4. Correct. 

a .  What were those -- What did those cases 

involve ? 

4. Most of them involved possible drug 

interactions: drugs causing some -- some kind of 

interaction causing harm to the patient as a 

9 
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possibility. 

Q. Were you retained on behalf of a defendant 

or a plaintiff? 

A .  A defendant, I believe, -- 

Q. 

A .  

Okay. 

-- both cases. 

Q -  So all three cases have been on behalf of 

th-dant? 

A .  

Q. Do you remember the names of the other two 

cases? 

A. No, I don't. Those were several years ago 

at O S U .  I haven't done anything since. 

Okay. When were they? 

Approximately 1987, I believe. 

Both of them? 

Yes. 

Okay. Were they --  Do you know where the 

cases were pending? Were they in Franklin County or -- 

I don't recall. I believe one of them was, 

at least. 

Okay. Were any of the drugs - -  

Well, what were the drugs involved? 

A .  I can't recall right offhand. 

~ , 
HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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Q. Did you say they were both drug interaction 

cases? 

A .  Y e s .  

Q. Okay. Did either of them involve Indocin? 

A .  No e 

Q. Any of the drugs that were involved in this 

case? 

A .  No. 

Q. Did either of those cases deal with any 

nephrology issues? 

A .  No. 

Q. Do you know how it is that the law €irm got 

your name? 

A .  No, I don't. Apparently, somebody gave 

them my name 'cause I had training in pharmacy and knew 

I was an internist, apparl-ntly. That's the word I got. 

I have no idea who gave it to them. 

Q. Do you remember who retained you on the 

other two cases? 

A .  No, I don't. 

Q. You don't remember the name of the firms? 

A .  No, not right offhand. It was just real 

brief run-it-by-you type things. 

Q. Okay. You were never deposed -- 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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No. 

-- or testified in those cases? 

No. 

And Reminger & Reminger wasn't the firm? 

No. 

(Discussion held off the record.) 

Have you ever been sued? 

No. 

Where is your file? 

File? 

For this case. 

It's in the office. 

What did you look at --  

What? 

It's in the office down here. 

Could I see it? 

All it is is the depositions basically 

nd --  and the records. You can see it if you want. 

can go get it. 

Okay. 

You want me to go get it? 

Yes. I'd like to see it. 

Okay. 

(Thereupon, a brief recess was had.) 

I: 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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MR. MELLINO: Let's go back on the record. 

1 .  Okay, Doctor. You have just brought 

.n here your file, and Mr. Spisak's taken out his 

:orrespondence to you. 

1. Uh-huh. 

2. With the exception of that, is everything 

;hat you have brought in here everything that you 

reviewed, let's say --  well, everything you reviewed in 

;his case? 

i .  Yes e 

2. And I'd like to go through this and just 

identify what's in your file. And on top is the 

2omplaint. 

A .  

a .  
report. 

A .  

Q. 

A .  

Q. 

A. 

Q. 

Dr. Heyka, 

Okay. 

Next is the original and a copy of your 

Uh-huh. 

Is that correct? 

Uh-huh. 

Next is Dr. Riley's office chart? 

Correct. 

Okay. Next is the deposition of 

Dr. Nakamoto, Dr. Riley, Dr, Brallier, 

Dr. Broughan; and then the rest of these are medical 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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Yecords. 

l .  Yes. 

2. These are what? the clinic chart -- clinic 

records? 

l e  The clinic -- Lakewood, I believe. 

2. Lakewood Hospital? 

l .  Lakewood Hospital. 

2. And that's everything you reviewed in this 

zase? 

4 .  Yes. 

2. Did you make notes on any of the 

lepositions or the medical records? 

I. N o .  

2 8  Did you make --  

I. Well, I might have -- 

N o ,  I don't think I did. 

a .  Okay. Did you make separate notes -- 

A .  N o .  

a .  -- while you were going through this? 

A .  N o .  I just -- No, I don't believe I did. 

Q. I take it since you don't -- you haven't 

had any training in nephrology, that when you have a 

patient that has a nephrology problem, you refer those 

patients t o  a nephrologist. Would that be true? 

H I G G I N S  & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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A .  Yes, depending on what the specific 

nephrology problem is. 

Q. Okay. Well, under what circumstances woul 

you refer a patient to a nephrologist? 

A. Many different circumstances. I mean, 

for instance, declining renal function, uncontrolled 

hypertension possibly; hematuria; but mostly, you know 

problems that I don't understand or don't have a hand1 

3n and see declining renal function, I would certainly 

get a nephrologist. 

a .  What is nephrology? 

4. Nephrology is the study of the diseases o 

the kidney. 

a .  During the period that Mr, Carrick was 

treating with Dr. Riley, didn't he have declining renal 

function and uncontrolled hypertension? 

4. Yes. 

a .  And wouldn't the standard of care have 

required that Dr. Riley refer Mr. Carrick to a 

iephrologis t? 

\. 

2. 

Not necessarily, I don't believe. 

Why not? 

I .  Dr. Riley was head of nephrology and 

iypertension at Lakewood Hospital. Apparently, he ha 

, 
HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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had some training in nephrology, and I'm sure he felt 

comfortable with his thinking of what was going on with 

his renal function. That is most likely why he did not. 

a .  Well, what's your understanding of 

what Dr. Riley's belief was as to the renal 

fun- -- Mr. Carrick's renal function? 

A .  My belief from reading the record is 

that he felt that his declining renal function was 

nost likely secondary to his uncontrolled hypertension. 

Facts to back that up would include an IVP that was done 

3arly on that showed small, shrunken kidneys. 

4nd therefore, I believe that he thought Mr. Carrick's 

kidney, decreasing kidney function was due to 

nephrosclerosis, which is the specific entity that 

mcontrolled hypertension causes. 

2. I'm sorry. When you --  You said the IVP's 

showed shrunken kidneys or -- 

4. Yeah, one shrunken kidney, I believe. 

2. Okay. Just one shrunken kidney? 

4. Right. Which is what you see with a 

Iypertensive kidney disease. 

a .  Do you agree with that? 

4 .  That is one explanation. 

a .  Well, do you agree with that explanation? 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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4. In retrospect, there are -- were many 
factors that could have caused this man's renal failure. 

3 .  Well, do you have an opinion to a 

reasonable degree of medical probability as to what 

zaused his renal failure? b 

4. I could not say what caused his renal 

failure. I did not see any tissue diagnosis of what the 
L ixact cause of renal failure was. I would believe you 

ylJould need to know that to be a hundred percent certain 

that you knew what caused the renal failure. 

2- Well, if a patient has declining 

renal function, isn't it incumbent upon the 

treating physician to determine what the cause of 

that decline is? 

Yes. 

And -- 

And I believe in Dr. Riley's mind, he 

I 
A -  I 

hought he knew that. 

Well, what did Dr. Riley do to determine 

the cause of the declining renal function? 

He did an IVP. 

And when did he do that? 

1982, I -- as I recall. I may be wrong on 

he exact date. 

~~ 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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And are t h e r e  o t h e r  tests t h a t  c o u l d  have 

e e n  done t o  de t e rmine  t h e  c a u s e  of  t h e  d e c l i n i n g  r e n a l  

u n c t i o n ?  

Y e s .  

What a re  t h o s e ?  

H e  c o u l d  have had v a r i o u s  tests. Could 

7 

ave  a r e n a l  u l t r a s o u n d .  Could have had a r e n a l  

r t e r i o g r a m .  

Anything e l s e ?  

Kidney b iopsy .  

Any o t h e r s ?  

No. I t h i n k  t h a t  c o v e r s  it.  

Wouldn' t  t h o s e  tests have been m o r e  

e f i n i t i v e  i n  d e t e r m i n i n g  t h e  c a u s e  of t h e  d e c l i n i n g  

e n a l  f u n c t i o n ?  

Y e s  e 

And s h o u l d n ' t  t h e y  have been done,  t h e n ?  

P o s s i b l y .  

How abou t  probably?  

I do n o t  --  I d o n ' t  know what D r .  R i l e y  w a s  

a t  t h a t  t i m e  and h i s  d i s c u s s i o n  w i t h  h i s  

' c a u s e  I b e l i e v e  t h e  r e c o r d  i s  i n a d e q u a t e  a t  

k h a t  l e v e l .  

Q .  What r e c o r d ?  H i s  r e c o r d s ?  

H I G G I N S  & A S S O C I A T E S  . . . (614) 444-1211 
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His records. 

Okay. Would a reasonable, prudent treating 

physician with a patient such as Mr. Carrick who had 

declining renal function perform these definitive 

studies to determine the cause of his declining renal 

function? 

A. In most cases. 

Well, how about in this specific case? 

Well, I -- I think Dr. Riley assumed that 

as I mentioned before, that the renal failure was 

rom the nephrosclerosis from the uncontrolled 

ypertension, and he was trying to control that in hopes 

hat that would stop the decreasing renal function. 

I guess that what I'm trying to get at is, 

s in your opinion, was that a reasonable assumption for 

im to proceed or should he have done these definitive 

ests so he would know what he was trying to treat? 

I think it was a reasonable assumption with 

is background. 

With whose background? 

Dr. Riley's. 

I guess you have to explain that to me, 

Well, he -- I mean, he did have some 

expertise in nephrology other than internal medicine; 

I , 
HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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2 roblem was. 

But YOU -- 

And he may well have been right, but 

here's no way to prove that at this point. 

Well, I thought you said earlier in 

etrospect that it appears that he was wrong. 

No, I didn't -- 

MR. SPISAK: I don't believe that was said. 

I don't believe that was said. 

When you reviewed this case, did you review 

t from the standpoint of Dr. Riley being a nephrologist 

r being an internal -- an internist? 

I reviewed it from the standpoint of 

eing a general internist with special interest in 

Okay. 

Which, at that time, when he came through, 

here was no, you know, boards in nephrology; and he was 

ead of nephrology and hypertension at Lakewood, which 

s not uncommon with older physicians. 

Well, the board certification examination 

ertainly exists now, --  

Right. Uh-huh. 

\ 
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a .  -- and he could take that test. 

4. No, he couldn't, because he would have to 

30 back and get training, a residency in nephrology. 

a .  Okay. 

4. You have to have that to sit for the board 

3xam. 

3 .  All right. But that's something he could 

30 if he wanted to be a nephrologist, isn't it? 

4. Yes. 

a .  And that cause you any concern in reviewing 

this case, that you --  you were -- 

I mean, you're board certified in internal 

nedicine. 

4. Uh-huh. 

a .  You have no special training in nephrology. 

4. Right. 

a .  And you're rendering opinions on somebody 

y~ou term as a general internist with special interest in 

iephrology. 

4 .  Uh-huh. 

2. And apparently, you feel you're qualified 

to do that. 

9. Yes. I do see patients in this 

situation and do have, you know, special interest in 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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iharmacology and deal with these types of drugs on a 

laily basis. 

!. Well, I take it from what you told me at 

:he beginning of the deposition, if you saw a patient 

:hat's presented the same way that Mr. Carrick did to 

lr. Riley, that you would refer that patient to a 

iephrologist. Would that be true? 

L .  Possibly, but not definitely. 

!. You would attempt to treat a patient such 

i s  Mr. Carrick in his condition during the eighties? 

L .  I'm not sure what the question is. 

! -  Would you attempt to treat a patient who 

)resented to you with Mr. Carrick's -- the same symptoms 

Ir. Carrick had during the eighties? Would you attempt 

:o treat that patient or would you refer to a 

iephrologist -- refer him to a nephrologist? 

MR. SPISAK: If you can answer that in 

i vacuum. 

I'm going to note my objection. 

L .  I don't believe I can say what I would have 

lone. 

! e  Why not? 

L .  Because it's very case specific, I believe. 

!. Well, what I'm asking you is if 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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r. Carrick had presented to you instead of Dr. Riley, 

ould you have treated him or would you have referred 

im to a nephrologist? 

MR. SPISAK: Same objection. 

I -- I don't know if I can answer that. 

And why is it that you can't answer it? 

Again, because that specific of a 

ituation, I probably would have done some other testing 

irst possibly, but before referring to a nephrologist. 

Well, would you have done some of the othe 

ests that we discussed: the renal arteriogram or rena 

ltrasound or kidney biopsy to determine the cause of 

is declining renal function? 

Possibly. 

How about probably? Would you have 

robably done that? 

Probably. 

All right. 

And if it turned out that the declining 

enal function was caused by nephrosclerosis, would you 

ave probably then referred him to a nephrologist? 

Possibly. 

If it was definitely nephrosclerosis, 

here's not much a nephrologist can do at that point, 

\ 
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That's not a treatable condition? 

No. Nephrosclerosis is not in itself a 

treatable condition. Once the damage is done, it's 

done. You can arrest it by controlling the blood 

pressure. 

What is nephrosclerosis? 

Nephrosclerosis is a scarring of the kidney 

aused by persistent elevated high blood pressure that 

s out of control. 

And what causes the uncontrolled high blood 

ressure? 

Various causes. May well be essential 

ypertension. That is very difficult to control, which 

there is no cause. It's termed idiopathic, which is not 

ncommon. 

Do you have an opinion to a reasonable 

egree of medical certainty as to what caused 

r. Carrick's high blood pressure? 

I would say the most likely cause is 

ncontrolled essential hypertension. 

Uncontrolled essential hypertension? 

Right. 

What is that? 

I 
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That is hypertension which is the mos 

common form of hypertension in our population. We do 

not know the cause, however. It presents with elevated 

blood pressures. There is no known cause of essential 

hypertension. 

And is there a treatment for it? 

Yes. 

What's the treatment? 

Treatment is various antihypertensive 

medications. 

Q. 

A .  

Such as? 

Well, there's probably hundreds of 

different blood pressure medications. 

9. Did Dr. Riley give any of them to 

r. Carrick? 

Yes. 

Which ones? 

He gave him Apresoline, 

-p-r-e-s-o-1-i-n-e, gave him Lasix, and he tried to 

give him Minoxidil once. Patient stated the reason 

for not taking that was it cost too much. 

Were you getting that from 

r. Riley's chart? 

Yeah. 
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1 .  Those are the only three? 

b .  I think there may have been a few more. I 

ust can't recall at this --  at the moment. 

'. And those three all are blood pressure 

iedications? 

b .  Yes. 

1 .  And you're saying there's hundreds of them? 

Probably at least a hundred. 

1 .  Okay. Are there any that are more 

ffective with controlling blood pressure than these 

hree? 

.. They're all effective, depending on the 

ndividual patient. In other words, they have to be 

itrated with the individual patient. One responds 

iaybe differently with each individual patient. 

1 .  Okay. Well, did any of these three work 

rith Mr. Carrick? 

i .  Doesn't appear that they worked very well 

3 .  And for what period of time did he give 

;hese medications? 

i .  He gave those medications over a period 

)f 15 years? I would think. 

There's one more there. M ress. That 

ras used prominently off and on by Dr. Riley. 
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And that one didn't work very well, 

/did it? i 
A. 

Q. Well, if there's hundreds of medications 

No. 

and the ones that Dr. Riley's giving him over a 15-year 

period aren't working, wouldn't he be required to try 

i pifferent ones and see if he could control it better? 

Possibly. 

How about probably? 

Okay. (Witness nodded affirmatively.) 

What's renovascular hypertension? 

Renovascular hypertension is caused by 

arrowing of the renal arteries leading to the kidney. 

Is that different than nephrosclerosis? 

Yes. 

Okay. Did you consider that as a cause of 

is high blood pressure? 

That is a possibility. 

Do you think it's a probability? 

I don't think it's any more probable than 

he other various possibilities. 

Okay. Well, what are the other 

ossibilities other than -- You told me uncontrolled 

ssential hypertension, renovascular hypertension. What 

! 
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are the other ones? 

A .  There is other various. It could have been 

interstitial nephritis. 

9. And what's that? 

A. 

Q. 

That's inflammation of the kidney tubules. 

Anything else? 

Are we talking about causes of chronic 

renal failure, basically, I understand? 

Right. 

Well, actually -- 

I There's various other minor causes. I --  
on't know. Other causes, I'm not sure they apply to 

this case, though. 

Okay. So these are the three causes of the 

enal failure in this case, the three possible causes in 

his case? 

Plus other drug effects. 

Which drugs? Indocin? 

That is a possibility. 
-- 

Any other drugs? 

Allopurinol. 

I think that's about it. 

All right. And you think any of these are 

qually likely causes of the renal failure in this case 
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I think they're both equal and possibly 

additive. 

Did you say "they're both equal"? 

They're -- I mean, I -- I would say, yeah, 
I think they're all possibilities, equal possibilities. 

But they also may be cumulative of each 
-I - 

I -  - 
True. 

Okay. The interstitial nephritis, can that 

cause high blood pressure? 

Yes. 

Didn ' t 

r. Riley determine 

lood pressure? 

I don' 

the standard of care require that 

the cause of Mr. Carrick's high 

believe so. I think most genera 

internists assume that it is essential hypertension 

nless there's other factors that would lead him to 

elieve otherwise. 

Wasn't there a factor in this case, and 

hat is the declining renal function? 

Yes. 

And shouldn't that have caused him to 

o further investigation into the cause of the 

I 
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kypertension? 

h .  

2 .  

p e s t i o n .  

i .  

1.  

P o s s i b l y .  

How about  probably?  

MR. SPISAK: I t h i n k  h e ' s  answered t h e  

Y e a h ,  I t h i n k  I ' v e  a l r e a d y  answered t h a t .  

What 's your  answer? 

MR. S P I S A K :  H e  s a i d  " p o s s i b l y , "  d i d n ' t  he? 

P o s s i b l y .  

Y e s .  W e l l ,  t h i s  i s  a d i f f e r e n t  q u e s t i o n .  

How about  p robab ly?  

MR. S P I S A K :  And when you asked t h a t  a 

n i n u t e  ago, I s a i d  I t h i n k  h e ' s  a l r e a d y  answered t h e  

ques t i on .  

But go ahead, Doctor .  You can  t e l l  h i  

3gain .  

9. P o s s i b l y .  A s  one of t h e  o p t i o n s .  

a .  So i t  w a s  j u s t  o p t i o n a l  f o r  h i m  t o  

iietermine w h a t  t h e  cause  of  t h e  h i g h  b lood p r e s s u r e  was? 

4. No. But I t h i n k  each c l i n i c i a n  has t o  make 

3 c l i n i c a l  judgment. I n  h i s  c l i n i c a l  judgment,  

3ppa ren t l y ,  he  f e l t  s u r e  t h a t  he knew t h e  cause .  

a .  W e l l ,  what d i d  he  t h i n k  t h e  c a u s e  of t h e  

high blood p r e s s u r e  w a s ?  

\ 
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A s  I have stated, nephrosclerosis secondary 

o high blood pressure. 

That was the cause of the declining renal 

unction, I thought, 

,. 

1 .  

:ause of the 

,. 

lypertension 

!. 

, *  

! *  

L .  

! -  

:he cause. 

L. 

1 .  

State that question again. 

I asked you what did Dr. Riley think the 

high blood pressure was. 

Oh, he thought it was essential 

out of control, which there is no cause, -- 
Okay. 

-- known cause. 

Where did you get that information from? 

That essential hypertension? 

No. No. That Dr. Riley thought that was 

From his deposition. 

Okay. When you have uncontrolled essential 

iypertension, is declining renal function associated 

rith that always? 

L. Not always. 

1 .  What percentage of cases is it? 

i .  I would estimate approximately 20 percent. 

3 .  So you would agree, then, that if he did 

lave uncontrolled essential hypertension and the patient 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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started exhibiting decreased renal function, that would 

st least arouse the suspicion of the prudent internist 

to investigate the cause of the hypertension? 

4 .  Yes. But I think Dr. Riley felt that he 

lad already made the diagnosis of nephrosclerosis, which 

is irreversible, and the treatment is control of the 

3lood pressure. 

2. Okay. 

I .  So apparently, he felt that there was no 

€urther testing indicated at that point. 

2. Well, I guess I'm Confused, because I 

;hought the -- the nephrosclerosis was caused by the 

iigh blood pressure. 

i .  Yes. 

>. 
)load pressure, does it? 

L. No e 

l *  Okay. So my question was: If you think 

i patient has uncontrolled essential hypertension and 

;hat patient starts exhibiting a decline in renal 

'unction, shouldn't you --  as a reasonable internist, 

rhouldn't that at least arouse your suspicion that you 

ieed to investigate the cause of the hypertension? 

lot --  

But the nephrosclerosis doesn't cause high 
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b .  Yes. 

1 .  Okay. 

L .  Unless you're sure that you know the cause. 

1 .  Well, what did Dr. Riley do to determine 

he cause of the hypertension? 

L .  The only tests that I saw that was done was 

In IVP back in 1982 or around that time. And it did 

ihow a small, shrunken kidney, which is consistent with 

iephrosclerosis. 

1 -  You're saying that that test helped him 

ietermine the cause of the hypertension? 

L .  Possibly. The record is unclear what he 

:hought. 

!. Well, I mean, if it was consistent with 

lephrosclerosis, that would only assist him in 

letermining the cause of the declining renal 

'unction, not the cause of the hypertension: right? 

Let me rephrase the question, okay? 

If he did the IVP and it's consistent with 

iephrosclerosis, -- 

L .  Right. 

! -  -- that wouldn't help him in determining 

:he cause of hypertension or high blood pressure, would 

.t? 
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No. It would confirm his thinking that the 

igh blood pressure had already - -  already damaged the 

idney and had already caused the nephrosclerosis and 

therefore affirmed that this is what was going on with 

this man's renal function. 

So, but my -- Well, what did Dr. Riley 
do to determine the cause of Mr. Carrick's hypertension? 

He did an IVP, which also helps. 

Well, what did the IVP tell him about the 

blood pressure? 

Nothing. It told him that he had small, 

shrunken -- had a small, shrunken kidney, consistent 

ith nephrosclerosis. 

Did he do anything else to determine the 

ause of the hypertension? 

Not that I recall. 

If the declining renal function was caused 

y the other -- Well, let me strike that. 

Is renovascular hypertension treatable? 

Sometimes. 

And how is it treated? 

It's treated with -- Depending on what 

he anatomical lesion is, if it is amenable to surgery, 

then certainly surgery can be done to replace the renal 
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irteries. 

Also, there's angioplasty of the renal 

irteries. 

! -  Okay. And if he had interstitial 

iephritis, is that treatable? 

L .  Yes. It's not really treatable. Mainly, 

:he thing to do is to stop the offending agent. 

It 's usually medication related. 

1 .  It's usually medication related? 

h .  Right. 

1 .  So you would stop the medication. 

h .  Right. 

1 .  All right. 

And I take it that if Indocin or 

illopurinol was causing it, then you could also stop 

;hose medications. 

1. Right. Right. 

2. Okay. So out of all the possibilities 

rou have mentioned for the decline in renal function, 

;he only one that's not treatable is the 

iephrosclerosis. 

i .  Correct. 

2. Okay. And isn't that also treatable 

in that the -- if the patient is a candidate f o r  a 

\ 
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transplant, that could be done? 

4 .  I'm sorry. Say that again. 

2. 

2an't they be treated with a kidney transplant? 

4. Yes. 

2. And do you have an opinion to a -- ell, do 

fou have an opinion if he was --  if Mr. Carrick was a 
=andidate f o r  a kidney transplant? 

4 .  No, he wasn't at any time that I revie 

the records. 

2. Okay. Let's just talk about the time 

#hen he was seeing Dr. Riley for now. And why, in your 

>pinion, wasn't he a candidate during that time? 

4. He was not a candidate for transplant, 

{ou ' re talking? 

a .  Yes. 

4 .  Oh, okay. His renal function was never at 

the point where he would require a transplant. 

2. Okay. 

4. He was still putting out urine. Creatinine 

lasically was -- even when he was discharged from The 

:leveland Clinic the first time, was only around seven, 

C believe. And he may have done well for years without 

3 --  without any other intervention. 

Can't a patient who has nephrosclerosis, :i 
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Usually, you do not do a transplant unless 

rou're already on hemodialysis and your kidneys have 

:ompletely failed. 

1 .  Uh-huh. 

I take it your opinion that he was never a 

:andidate is based on the fact that by the time he was 

)n dialysis, that he was not medically stable to undergo 

1 transplant operation. 

1. Correct. 

3 .  Did you see anywhere in the record where 

)r. Riley ever made a definitive diagnosis of gout? 

i .  Yes, I believe he did. 

1 .  Okay. When was that? 

4 .  I believe early on. 

1 .  Well, how -- 

Do you treat gout? 

4 .  Yes. 

2. How do you make a diagnosis of gout? 

4 .  Well, there's several ways. The most 

iefinitive is getting --  aspirating a joint that is 

sffected and checking uric acid crystals in the 

Laboratory. 

2. Is that how you make a diagnosis of gout? 

4 .  Sometimes. 

! 
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gout? 

A. 

Q *  

A. 

38 

Is that the most definitive way to diagnose 

It is the most definitive; --  

Okay e 

-- however, there are other ways. 

How did Dr. Riley do it in this case? 

He diagnosed it by an elevated uric acid 

level and response to a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory 

edication. 

Is that how you make a diagnosis of gout? 

Yes, one of the ways. Uh-huh. 

Is there any risk to aspirating the joint? 

None other than just the pain of the 

actually inserting the needle. 

Would there be a reason for not making the 

efinitive diagnosis of gout in this case? 

Possibly. Perhaps he did not feel a joint 

ffusion; and you wouldn't put a needle in it unless you 

hought there was an effusion that you could get some 

aterial to look at it. 

Uh-huh. 

Would the fact that he didn't have a joint 

ffusion mitigate against the diagnosis of gout? 

I'm sorry. Say that again. 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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a .  The fact that he didn't have a joint 

effusion, would that mitigate against him having gout? 

4. I'm not sure. What do you mean by 

'I mitigate ? 

a .  Well, maybe that's the wrong word. 

Would that be something that would indicate 

that he might not have gout? 

9. I think gout is a diagnosis of a clinical 

syndrome rather than a definite laboratory testing. It 

=an be done if you have a joint effusion, but sometimes 

slso you cannot get a definitive specimen. And if 

IOU have an elevated uric acid and there's arthralgias 

m d  you respond to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory 

sgents, then almost certainly it is gout. And I 

Mould believe that most general practitioners and 

general internists would take that as evidence and would 

treat accordingly. 

2 -  Okay. I understood your answer, but I'm 

lot sure that it was the answer to my question. 

4 .  Okay. 

2. And that is, if Dr. Riley didn't feel a 

joint effusion, would that be an indication that the 

iatient didn't have gout? 

1. He may or may not have gout just by the 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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l o i n t  e f f u s i o n .  I n  o t h e r  words,  you do n o t  a lways  have 

in e f f u s i o n  w i t h  gou t .  

( D i s c u s s i o n  he ld  of f  t h e  record.)  

3 .  But t h e  fac t  t h a t  there's n o t  an  e f f u s i o n ,  

rould t h a t  make you s u s p i c i o u s  t h a t  there w a s n ' t  gou t ?  

i .  I t  may o r  it may n o t  b e  j u s t  f r o m  t h e  

I f f u s i o n .  

3 .  W e l l ,  w a s n ' t  D r .  R i l e y  t r e a t i n g  

I r .  C a r r i c k  f o r  a 15- year  p e r i o d  f o r  gou t ?  

i .  Y e s  a 

3 .  Okay. And wouldn ' t  a r e a s o n a b l e ,  p ruden t  

) h y s i c i a n  a t  some p o i n t  d u r i n g  t h a t  15 y e a r s  make a 

i e f i n i t i v e  d i a g n o s i s  of gou t ?  

i .  You ' re  speak ing  of a j o i n t  a s  s e p a r a t e ?  

Y e s .  L e t ' s  s t a r t  w i t h  t h a t .  

i .  I f  he  had one,  p o s s i b l y .  

I have s e e n  no r e c o r d ,  n o t h i n g  on t h e  

:ecord t h a t  would i n d i c a t e  t h a t  he d i d .  

)e I f  he had one what?  I f  he had a j o i n t  -- 

i .  An e f f u s i o n  t h a t  w a s  able  t o  be  a s p i r a t e  

1 .  I see. All r i g h t .  

I. Do you have an  o p i n i o n  a s  t o  whether  o r  n o t  

I r .  C a r r i c k  had gou t ?  

i .  I t h i n k  he d i d .  

H I G G I N S  & A S S O C I A T E S  . . . (614) 444-1211 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 
2 
m 
'D (0 15 
2 

16 

2 I 17 

N 

0 00 

0 
0 

[r 

w a 
4 CL 18 

23 

24 

41 

II\ 
2. Do you think it was primary or secondary 

rout? 

4 -  Primary. 

1 .  Have you ever treated a patient that had 

>regressive renal failure, gouty attacks, and uric acid 

.evels of 12 to 14? 

4. Yes. 

3 .  And is that a well-described entity in the 

-iterature? 

i .  Yes. 

3 .  And what's the treatment for that? 

L. Treatment is to control the gout and uric 

tcid levels. 

2. How? 

i .  Usually with Allopurinol. 

1 -  Is there any other treatment you give 

:oncurrently with that? 

i .  I assume you're talking a chronic gout 

:ather than the acute situation. 

2. Well, how would you describe Mr. Carrick's 

lout?  

L. Mr. Carrick had chronic gout with acute 

ixacerbations. ------- 
j .  All right. Well, let's talk about the 

\ - 
\ 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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of gout he had. 

Well, he had both. You use different 

edications in both. 

To prevent the recurrent exacerbations, you 
c_ 

treat with Allopurinol to lower the uric acid level; 

hqwever, in this situation, it is very tricky because 

llopurinol itself can be a nephrotoxin. 

And apparently, Dr. Riley felt that 

llopurinol, which he did try, was possibly a cause 

f -- would possibly hurt his kidneys more than they 

already were. 
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Okay. Do you feel that Mr. Carrick 

eceived an adequate trial of Allopurinol? F 
I think so. I believe if you checked the 

ecord, he did bring down the uric acid early on and -- 

ut then, as Dr. Riley believes in his deposition, the 

UN went up rather dramatically, and therefore he 

topped it, 

Do you think that was appropriate, to stop 

he Allopurinol? 

Yes. Yes. 

But during that time period, he was also 

eceiving Indocin, wasn't he? 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 



4 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

? (D 15 
m 
m 
- 
N (D 

D m 
16 

0 
0 

17 2 
I 

a 
Lu a 
d 18 
(I) 

w 
I- U 

a 

19 
2 

= ,  20 
w 
U 

w 
(I) 

4 
U 21 

22 ? 

0) 
0 
I 
U 

23 

24 

A. I believe so. 

43 

And Dr. Riley continued to prescribe 

Indocin after he stopped the Allopurinol, didn't he? 

Correct. But his BUN creatinine came down, 

too. So in view of that, I believe the Allopurinol was 

the culprit. 

And not the Indocin? 

At that point, yes. This was way when he 

first started the Allopurinol. 

Did he ever go back to try the Allopurinol 

after that? 

No. I don't believe anybody would after 

seeing a dramatic worsening of renal function. 

Well, do you believe that the Indocin at 

That's a tough question. It may have 1 ome point began damaging the kidneys? 

ontributed a small amount, I would say. 

Well, is that an opinion based on 

easonable medical certainty? 

Yes, I believe so. I believe of you rea 

he literature on Indocin, most of the nephropathy 

ssociated with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents is 

elatively -- a relatively low amount of cases that go 

n to complet 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES - . . (614) 444-1211 
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What's your understanding of how much 

ndocin Mr. Carrick was taking? 

That's very tough from the record, 

nd I have no idea, From the record, I noted at 

leveland --  a note on The Cleveland Clinic, a 

ecord possibly that -- 

THE WITNESS: What was it? 

MR. SPISAK: You want to check the record? 

I don't know where that was, but it was 

omething like 200 -- two t o  400 tablets in a year of a 

5-milligram dosage. 

That's based on the clinic record? 

Yes, which I don't know how they determined 

hat, whether it was from the patient 

r discussions with Dr. Riley. It does not say. 

ertainly cannot be determined by the -- Dr. Riley's 

ecords. 

You can't determine how much Indocin he 

aking -- \ 

/------ 
No. 
\- 

)e -- from Dr. Riley's records? 

L .  No. 

!. Is it appropriate for a physician to 

. 

,rescribe nephrotoxins such as Indocin over a 15-year 

, 
HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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Ieriod in a patient that has declining renal function? 

1. It may be in a special situation where 

>ther medications have been tried and nothing else 

rorks. And therefore, you would have to weigh the risk 

rersus benefit of a particular medication. 

1 .  Do you feel it was appropriate in this 

;et t ing ? 

L. Yes, I believe it was appropriate treatment 

if the -- his repeated, severe arthralgias. 

1 -  Without knowing how much Indocin he was 

)rescribing? 

i .  Well, the record does not indicate that 

Le -- that he -- how much he prescribed, so I'm not 

iware if Dr. Riley knew or not. Have no way of knowing. 

!. No. I mean, can you render this opinion 

rithout knowing how much Indocin Dr. Riley prescribed? 

i .  Well, it would be -- Well, I could render 

In opinion that there are other causes of his renal 

ailure other than Indocin, certainly. And I don't --  I 
hink that's an impossible question to answer if you 

on't know how much he took. And although -- 
Obviously, it would be -- it would --  you 

now, it would be more likely that it's the Indocin if 

e took a lot and less if he took less; although, again, 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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46  

: state that Indocin in itself would probably not cause, 

is a sole cause of this, renal failure. 

z. As you sit here today without knowing how 

iuch Indocin Dr. Riley prescribed, do you have an 

)pinion based on reasonable medical certainty whether it 

ras appropriate for him to prescribe Indocin to 

Ir. Carrick over a 15-year period in light of the fact 

;hat he had declining renal function during that perio 

I f  time? Do you have an opinion? Yes or no. 

L. Yes. 

2. Okay. And what's your opinion? 

L. My opinion is that it was appropriate that 

)r. Riley prescribe Indocin for acute gouty attacks 

)ased on a risk/benefit ratio of the medication. 

1 .  Would there be any amount of Indocin 

)rescribed that would be appropriate? 

L. Certainly you want to limit it to the least 

imount that does the j ob .  You would certainly not want 

;o have him on it on a chronic basis. You would just 

tse it for -- and just use it for severe exacerbations, 

I- 
- 

--.- 

rhich is -- as I read the records, the way that Dr. 

liley had treated him. 

3 .  All right. If I asked you to assume that 

le was on Indocin on a chronic basis, would that change 

! 
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MR. SPISAK: Note my objection. There's no 

indication of that anywhere. 

There is no indication of that in the 

record, that he was on it on an everyday -- 

Well, I'm just -- You said on a chronic 
basis, so I was using your terminology. Nobody said -- 

not even Mr. Spisak said "every day." 

That's what we mean by "chronic," though. 

Okay. What I mean by "hypothetical" is, 

I want you to assume that he was on it on a chronic 

MR. SPISAK: Every day? 

"Chronic" means every day to a physician. 

I mean, you take the medicine every day. 

Okay. Assume that --  

MR. SPISAK: Assume that he took it every 

ingle day f o r  15 years? Is that what you're askin 

his doctor? 

I'm asking you to assume that he was on it 

n a chronic basis, however you define that. 

MR. SPISAK: And I want you to put in the 

ecord how you define that before you answer that. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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L. 

laily basis. Usually, the usual dosage is three times a 

lay. 

I define chronic as being prescribed on- 

And you're asking me again if he was on it 

:hronically? I should assume that? 

! -  Yes. Assume that he was prescribed on a 

:hronic basis. 

L. Okay. 

! *  Would that change your opinion as to 

rhether or not it was appropriate for Dr. Riley to 

Irescribe Indocin over a 15-year period to Mr. Carrick, 

iven the fact that he had declining renal function 

uring that period? 

b .  I think so, yes. 

1 .  You think that would change your opinion? 

Right. 

Okay. And so it would be below the 

tandard of care to do that. Would that be true? 

MR. SPISAK: If he took it three times a 

ay every day f o r  15 years. 

Right. That would be right, L 
Now let's say that he was just -- let's say 

e just took it every day, not necessarily three times a 

ay. Would that change your opinion? 

\ 

! 
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MR. SPISAK: Note my objection to all the 

nypothesizing . 
4. 

2. 

4. 

a .  

4. 

jay, I mean, 

2. 

it? 

Yes, because as a -- Yes. 

That would change your opinion? 

Right. 

Would it be below the standard of care? 

If it was prescribed once a day, just one a 

you wouldn't do that. 

How often should he have been prescribing 

MR. SPISAK: I think that's already been 

testified to, but go ahead, Doctor. 

4. I think as often as he has an acute 

2xacerbation. 

Q. We're talking about -- When we say once 

or three times a day, are we talking about 25 

milligrams? Is that what you said before was the 

tablet? 

A .  Right. 

Q. So we're talking about 25 milligrams, one 

fo r  three times a day. 

A .  Right. 

Q. All right. So it would be appropriate in 

your opinion f o r  Dr. Riley to prescribe it over this 

, 
HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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renal function, if it was prescribed only when the 

patient had exacerbated gouty attacks? 

Correct. 

Okay. 

And it was assumed that the patient too 

only when he had an acute attack. And usually, it 

responds within several days. 

And how often do you envision these attacks 

ccurring? Once a month? Once every other month? 

That is highly variable. I have no idea. 

You have no idea how often Mr. Carrick had 

ttacks over the 15-year period of time? 

No, I don’t. 

Well, what if he had one once a month? 

ould it have been appropriate for Dr. Ril-y to con-inue 

o prescribe the Indocin? 

Yes, assuming he only took it for several 

ays, --  P 
I”- Okay. 

-- which is the usual treatment for gout. 

Y o u  said earlier that you gleaned from the 

ecords somewhere that Dr. 

ablets per year. 
/-- 
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That was in a reference from Cleveland 

MR. SPISAK: Reference from Cleveland 

linic. Excuse me. And that reference does not say 

that Dr. Riley prescribed that: that that, I believe, 

says that's what the patient took. 

THE WITNESS: That's what -- Well, it at 

least says -- 

MR. SPISAK: At least there's a reference 

I'll ask you to assume that Dr. Riley was 

the one that prescribed this 200 to 400 tablets per 

ear. Would that have been an appropriate amount of 

Indocin for him to prescribe? 

MR. SPISAK: Given what he's -- what 
r. Mast has already indicated, that it be taken f o r  

cute episodes only? 

MR. MELLINO: Sure. 

I think that would fall within the range of 

ossibility, depending on how many acute attacks he had, 

hich nobody knows. Probably Dr. Riley didn't know, 

I'm sure it's not -- It's not uncommon for 

patient to have a supply of Indocin; and when he has a 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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for a few days and then stop without the doctor even 

knowing it. 

Well, is it your understanding that anybody 

other than Dr. Riley prescribed Indocin to 

r. Carrick? 

No. 

Okay. So it was just Dr. Riley prescribing 

As far as I know. 

And isn't that something that would have 
w 

I 
een important for Dr. Riley to know, how often he had 1 
ad gouty attacks? 

Yes. 

And, I mean, that's something that should 

e in Dr. Riley's records, isn't it? 

Not necessarily. Not if the patient didn't 

all in. And it's not noted anywhere. He may ask him 

n his annual physical. 

But it's nowhere in his record? 

No. 

And Dr. Riley couldn't remember when he was 

eposed how often they were, could he? 

Well, that may very well be. 
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I don't remember specifically on every 

atient, you know. 

Well, I mean, you agreed with me it's 

omething that's important for Dr. Riley to know. 

nd there's absolutely nothing in this record that 

emonstrates that he knew how often he was having gouty 

attacks, is there? 

Yes. No, there is nothing on the recor 

indicate that. 

Do you agree with Dr. Riley that 

r. Carrick needed dialysis at the time that he was 

transferred to The Cleveland Clinic? 

MR. GORE: I'm going to object. This 

itness has not been proposed to testify in this regard. 

MR. SPISAK: You may answer, if you can. 

That is not a judgment of a general 

internist. 

So would you be qualified to render any 

pinions about dialysis or its role in this case? 

Are you talking specifically about the time 

hat he was transferred from Lakewood to Cleveland 

Well, I wasn't limiting to that at all. 

That's up to a nephrologist, but I don't -- 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 



1 9- 

m 
n w 
i- a 

a 
P 
w 

a 
Lu 
m 
4 
a 
m 
0 
I a 
B 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

patient with a BUN of 150 and creatinine -- 

Dialysizing this patient? 

Right e 

Do you have an opinion as to whether or not 

it would have reversed his disease process? 

MR. GORE: Objection. Lack of 

ualifications. 

MR. SPISAK: Go ahead, Doctor. 

No, it wouldn't. The dialysis does not 

everse disease processes. 

Well, would I -- Is your opinion that he 

ould have needed a kidney transplant? 

That's impossible to ascertain, That's -- 

e may have down the line if he had complete chronic 

enal failure, but he never -- he never did till the 

ery end; and obviously, he was in no medical condition 

o undergo a transplant at that point. 

Did Dr. Riley fall below the standard of 

are in not anticipating and preventing Mr. Carrick's 

one disease? 

No. 

What did he do to anticipate and prevent 

t? 
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A. I don't think he did anything. 

a .  Well, did he have a duty to do something? 

F\. I'm not clear on the extent of the bone 

3isease. 

2. You're not clear on the extent of 

Yr. Carrick's bone disease? 

9. Yes. 

2. Okay. Well, does an internist have a 

3uty to --  You know, given a patient with Mr. Carrick's 

?resentation, does he have a duty to anticipate or 

?revent bone disease in that patient? 

9. Yes. 

a .  I Okay. And Dr. Riley didn't do anything to 

mticipate it or prevent it, did he? 

\. Not that --  not from the record that I 

zould ascertain. 

2. Do you know what the treatment is for rena 

>one disease? 

I .  Yes. 

2. Okay. What is it? 

I .  It is trying to reverse the calcium 

:esorption from the bone. 

2. How do you do that? 

4 .  Includes lowering the phosphorus and giving 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 



1 3- 1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 
c1 

m 
- 
2 15 
N (0 

0 
0 m 

16 
0 
0 

$ > 17 
od 
U 
L L  Q 

Q 
a 18 

22 I 
B 

23 

24 

calcium supplementation. That's how it's treated 

medicallv. 

/a. 
A, 

Q -  

And Dr. Rilev r3A&+-t d o t h a m  ' he? 

No, he didn't. 

Okay. 

56 

But I'm a little bit unclear from reviewing 

he record about how extensive his bone disease was. 

Well, if a patient has a decline in 

enal function, isn't that one of the possibilities, -- 

Right. 

-- that he'll develop renal bone disease? 

Right. But usually that occurs in people 

that are on long-term hemodialysis. 

Are you just saying that you're unclear as 

o the extent of his bone disease or that he had bone 

isease --  renal bone disease at all? 

Well, yes, to the extent, I am unclear on 

hat. And no -- I -- I think he had some, but I'm not 

lear to how extensive it was. 

So it is clear that he had renal bone 

isease? 

Yes. 

MR. SPISAK: He says he thinks he had some. 

MR. MELLINO: Okay. 
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1 -  Do you have any opinions about the care 

:hat Dr. -- that Mr. Carrick received at The Cleveland 

:linic? 

MR. GORE: Is that a yes-or-no question? 

MR. MELLINO: Yes. 

L .  Any opinions? 

! -  Right. 

L .  No. 

You have no opinions? 

No. 

!. Do you have an opinion on whether or 

lot at the time Mr. Carrick was transferred to The 

lleveland Clinic whether or not his condition, his 

isease process was treatable and reversible? 

MR. GORE: Objection for lack of 

ualifications and lack of foundation, particularly 

ince he's already testified he didn't know the extent 

f the bone disease. 

MR. SPISAK: You may answer if you can 

nswer. 

Yes. I mean, if you don't have an opinion 

ou can just say that. 

What was the question again? 

The question was: Do you have an opinion 
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ased on reasonable medical certainty as to whether or 

not at the time Mr. Carrick was transferred to The 

Cleveland Clinic, whether his condition was -- his 

edical condition was treatable and reversible? 

MR. GORE: Same objection. 

Some of his -- Obviously, there was more 

than one thing going on. Some of them were reversible 

and some of them weren't, probably. 

Which ones were reversible? 

MR. GORE: Same objection. 

His acute arthritis -- arthralgia and 

severe arthritis, which is -- that is the reason he was 

dmitted to 

P -  

i Lakewood, as I understand. Severe pain, 

Okay. Anything else? 

Also, his renal function could have been 

mproved wi,h dialysis if that was thought to be 

ecessary. But it was not a cure. Dialysis just is 
\ 

------J method to remove toxins. 

Okay e 

And this person may well have had acute 

Fenal failure on top of chronic renal failure, which 

ould have been reversible to some degree. 

And if his renal failure was caused by 

nterstitial nephritis or from Indocin, --  

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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His chronic renal failure? 

Yes. 

-- then that could have also been treated? 

Yes, if -- if that was the case. 
\ 

Have we talked about all the opinions that 

ou are going to render at trial in this case? 

No. 

Okay. What have I missed? 

MR. SPISAK: Well, I don't --  I'm going to 

bject. 

THE WITNESS: What was the question 

MR. SPISAK: "What have I missed?" 

I don't know what you've missed. 

THE WITNESS: Oh, okay. 

I'm sorry. I didn't understand your 

uestion. 

I asked you if -- if we've talked about all 

he opinions that you have in this case that you're 

oing to render at trial. 

I believe so. 

MR. MELLINO: Okay. I don't have any other 

uestions. 

MR. GORE: I have one question, but I think 

t may be more a question for Mr. Spisak than for Dr. 

HIGGINS & ASSOCIATES . . . (614) 444-1211 
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last. 

Am I correct in my understanding, based on 

)r. Mast's report and the testimony he has just given, 

:hat he has not been asked to and will not be at trial 

,resenting any opinions with regard to the liability 

.ssues vis-a-vis The Cleveland Clinic physicians? 

MR. SPISAK: I believe that's an accurate 

'epresentation at this point. 

And if for any reason there should be 

nything different on that, you would certainly be 

Nntitled to know that and to discover it from this 

'itness well in advance of trial. 

MR. GORE: Then I don't have any questions 

or you, Dr. Mast. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

MR. GORE: Beth, I'd like a copy. 

MR. SPISAK: Beth, what I'd like you to do 

s to send me my copy, and I will make it available to 

r. Mast for review, and then I'll send you a letter 

ith copies to everybody else saying that we waive 

ignature subject to those corrections. I don't want 

ou to have to go through the process of sending him a 

etter and all that business for signature. And we do 

his all the time, so I think it's agreeable to all of 
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us. 

MR. MELLINO: What? I missed that. 

MR. SPISAK: I'll have Dr. Mast review 

copy of it, and then we'll send you a letter waiving 

signature. I'll send it to Beth waiving signature to 

any corrections he makes, but he doesn't have to go 

hrough the rigamarole of actually signing it. 

MR. MELLINO: Okay. That's agreeable. 

(Signature waived.) 

- - -  

Thereupon, the deposition concluded at 

bpproximately 3:30 p.m. 

\ 
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C E R T I F I C A T E  - - - - - _ - - _ _ _  

FHE STATE OF OHIO: 
ss: 

ZOUNTY OF FRANKLIN: 

I, Beth A. Higgins, 
?rofessional Reporter and Notary 
state of Ohio, do hereby certify 
2f his said deposition, the said 

a Registered 
Public in and for the 
that before the taking 
MAURICE C. MAST, MeD. 

vas first duly sworn by me to tell the truth, the w 
truth, and nothing but the truth; 

respects pursuant to the stipulations of counsel 
ieretofore set forth; that the foregoing is the 
leposition given at the said time and place by the 
said MAURICE C. MAST, M.D.; 

That I am not an attorney for or relative 
if either party and have no interest whatsoever in the 
2vent of this litigation. 

ny hand and official seal of office at Columbus, Ohio, 
this 10th day of October, 1991. 

That said deposition was taken in all 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set 

3 

( ."I; 
W Y  31 LQl/&&.-, 

BETH A. HIGGINS,b R@R 
NOTARY PUBLIC, STATE OF OHIO 

4y commission expires 
July 16, 1995. 
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